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JAMES N.A..drFN. Cle~ 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT for BY:~~ 
the NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

UNTTED STATES OF AMERTCA and the 

STATE OF GEORGTA, 

ex rei. MAXINE WHITAKER, 


Plaintiffs, 
v. 

CARENOW SERVTCES, LLC, 

Defendants. 

QUITAM COMPLAINT 

FILED UNDER SEAL 


PURSUANT TO 

31 U.S.c. § 3730(b)2 


DEMAND FOR JURy TRIAL 


COMPLAINT 

On behalf of the United States of America and on behalf of the State of Georgia, Relator 

Maxine Whitaker files this qui tam Complaint against Defendant CARENOW, LLC 

("CARENOW") and alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

I . This is an action brought by Relator Maxine Whitaker to recover treble damages 

and civil penalties on behalf of the United States of America and the State ofGeorgia 

(collectively: the "Government") in connection with a scheme designed by Defendant 

CARENOW, LLC ("CARENOW") to manipulate Medicare, Medicaid, TRICARE and other 

Government-funded health insurance programs for false and fraudulent claims made or caused to 

be made through the payment of false claims for healthcare services including, but not limited to, 

counseling and psychiatric services in violation of the Federal False Claims Act, 31 U.S.c. §§ 

3729 et seq., as amended (the "FCN'), and the Georgia Taxpayer Protection False Claims Act, 

GA Code §§23-3-120 to 23-3-127 ("GA FCA"). 
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2. CARENOW contracts with a network of Psychiatrists, Advanced Practice 

Registered Nurses ("APRN"), Licensed Clinical Social Workers ("LCSW") or Master's level 

professionals to provide counseling and psychiatric services at nursing facilities throughout the 

State ofGeorgia to the geriatric population and their families. CARENOW, acting through its 

contracted providers, regularly bills for services not rendered. 

3. According to Relator, it is a common practice for CARENOW providers to bill 

for a service to a patient whether the provider actually treated the patient. According to Relator 

this is called "treating the charts" where the provider bills not for the service actually rendered to 

the patient but, for the service scheduled to be rendered to the patient whether rendered or not. 

As detailed below, this practice occurs in several ways. 

4. First, Medicare rejects an unusually high number ofCARE NOW claims because 

the patient's date of death precedes the purported date of service. Tn essence, CARENOW is 

billing/or services purportedly rendered to deceased patients. This supports Relator's 

contention that CARENOW providers are billing for services without ever seeing a patient. 

5. Second, patient progress notes purportedly prepared by CARENOW employees at 

the time the service is rendered often include word-for-word identical narratives for different 

patients or for the same patient on different occasions. This further suggests that the 

CARENOW employees are not actually treating the patients at the time for which they are 

billing for services. 

6. Third, CARENOW providers regularly bill for more total daily minutes than there 

are in full work day. This also suggests that CARENOW providers are billing for services not 

rendered. 
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7. In sum, CARENOW's improper conduct through its brazen and uncontrolled 

network ofproviders results in thousands ofviolations ofthe United States and State ofGeorgia 

FCAs causing substantial damages to the Government and the American taxpayers. 

PARTIES 

8. Relator Maxine Whitaker is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the 

State ofGeorgia. She worked for CARENOW since November 2015. Relator is an original 

source and has direct, personal, and independent knowledge ofthe information upon which the 

allegations herein are based. Relator was initially hired by CARENOW to improve the 

company's billing practices. In brief, Relator understood her job description to ensure that 

CARENOW properly billed Government-funded health plans and private payers for everything 

which CARENOW was legally entitled to bill. However, in the process of reorganizing 

CARENOW's billing practices that Relator discovered that CARENOW was regularly 

submitting claims for payment to Government-funded health programs to which the company 

was not entitled. Upon learning ofthe improper billing, Relator voluntarily ended her 

association with CARENOW. 

9. Defendant CARENOW is a Georgia Limited Liability Company with principle 

office address at 401 Bombay Lane, Roswell, Georgia 30076. CARENOW, registered with the 

Georgia Secretary of State since July 20, 2009, provides counseling and psychiatric treatment to 

older adults in skilled nursing facilities throughout the State. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

10. Venue and jurisdiction are the same under the FCA. 31 U .S.c. § 3732. An action 

may be brought in any judicial district in which any defendant may be found or in which any 

proscribed act occurred. 31 U.S.c. § 3732(a). The United States District Court for the Northern 
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District of Georgia has jurisdiction and venue for any Complaint brought in the matter because 

the Defendant is located in this district and many of the proscribed acts occurred at Defendant's 

facilities in this district. 

II. Relator is not aware that the allegations in this Complaint have been publicly 

disclosed. Further, to the extent Relator is aware of any public disclosures, this Complaint is not 

based on such public disclosures. In any event, the United States District Court for Northern 

District ofGeorgia has jurisdiction under 31 U.S.c. § 3730(e)(4) because the Relator is an 

"original source" because she has provided this information voluntarily to the Government 

before filing a Complaint, and has knowledge which is both direct and independent of any public 

disclosures to the extent they may exist. 

12. In compliance with 31 U.S.c. §3730(e)(4), relator has, contemporaneously with 

the filing of this Complaint, served copies of a Disclosure Statement with exhibits along with a 

copy ofthis Complaint upon the United States Attorney for the Northern District ofGeorgia and 

upon the United States Attorney General in Washington, D.C. 

13. In accordance with 31 U.S.c. § 3730(b)(2), this Complaint has been filed in 

camera and will remain under seal for a period of at least 60 days and shall not be served on the 

Defendants until the Court so orders. 

GOVERNING LAWS, REGULATIONS, AND CODES OF CONDUCT 

THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT 

14. Originally enacted in 1863, Congress substantially amended the FCA in 1986 by 

the False Claims Amendments Act. The 1986 amendments enhanced the Government's ability to 

recover losses sustained as a result of fraud against the United States. Further clarifying 

amendments were adopted in May 2009 and March 20 10. 
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15. The FCA imposes liability upon any person who "knowingly presents, or causes to 

be presented [to the Government] a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval"; or 

"knowingly makes, uses or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a 

false or fraudulent claim"; or "knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record 

or statement material to an obligation to payor transmit money or property to the Government, or 

knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases an obligation to payor 

transmit money or property to the Government." 31 U.S.c. 3729(a)(1 )(A), (B), (G) (emphasis 

added). Any person found to have violated these provisions is liable for a civil penalty of up to 

$1 1,000 for each such false or fraudulent claim submitted on or before November 2, 2015 and up 

to $21,563 for violations committed after November 2,2015, plus three times the amount of the 

damages sustained by the Government for each and every violation of 31 U.S.c. § 3729 arising 

from Defendants' unlawful conduct as described herein. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 85.3(a)(9). 

16. Significantly, the FCA imposes liability where the conduct is merely "in reckless 

disregard of the truth or falsity of the information" and further clari fies that "no proof of specific 

intent to defraud is required." 31 U.S.c. 3729(b)(I). 

17. The FCA also broadly defines a "claim" as one that includes "any request or 

demand, whether under a contract or otherwise, for money or property and whether or not the 

United States has title to the money or property, that - (i) is presented to an officer, employee, 

or agent of the United States; or (ii) is made to a contractor, grantee, or other recipient, if the 

money or property is to be spent or used on the Government's behalf or to advance a Government 

program or interest, and if the United States Government - (i) provides or has provided any 

portion of the money or property requested or demanded; or (ii) will reimburse such contractor, 
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grantee, or other recipient for any portion ofthe money or property which is requested or 

demanded." 31 U.S.c. § 3729(b)(2)(A). 

18. The qui tam provision ofthe FCA empowers private persons having information 

regarding a false or fraudulent claim against the Government to bring an action on behalf of the 

Government and to share in the proceeds of any recovery. The complaint must be filed under 

seal without service on any Defendant. 

19. The complaint remains under seal while the Government conducts an 

investigation of the allegations in the complaint and determines whether to intervene in the 

action. 31 U.S.c. § 3730(b). 

FEDERALLY FUNDED HEALTH INSURANCE PROGRAMS 

1) Medicare 

20. Medicare is a federally-funded health insurance program for the elderly and 

persons with certain disabilities, providing both hospital insurance, Medicare Part A, which 

covers the cost of inpatient hospital services and post-hospital nursing facility care, and medical 

insurance, Medicare Part B, which covers the cost of the physician's services such as services to 

patients who are hospitalized, if the services are medically necessary and personally provided by 

the physician. 

21. Medicare payments come from the Medicare Trust Fund, which is funded 

primarily by payroll deductions taken from the United States work force through mandatory 

Social Security deductions. 

22. Medicare is generally administered by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid 

Services ("CMS"), which is an agency ofthe Department of Health and Human Services. CMS 
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establishes rules for the day-to-day administration ofMedicare. CMS contracts with private 

companies to handle day-to-day administration of Medicare. 

23. CMS, through contractors, maintains and distributes fee schedules for the 

payment of physician services. These schedules specify the amounts payable for defined types 

of medical services and procedures. 

2) ~edicaid 

24. Medicaid is a state and federal assistance program to provide payment of medical 

expenses for low-income patients. Medicaid was created in 1965 in Title XIX ofthe Social 

Security Act. 

25. Funding for Medicaid is shared between the Federal Government and state 

programs that choose to participate in Medicaid. 

26. At all relevant times to the Complaint, applicable Medicaid regulations relating to 

coverage of claims by providers and physicians have been substantially similar in all material 

respects to the applicable Medicare provisions described above. 

3) TRICARE 

27. TRICARE is a federal program which provides civilian health benefits for 

military personnel, military retirees, and their families. TRICARE is administered by the 

Department of Defense and funded by the Federal Government. See 32 C.F.R. J99.17. 

28. At all relevant times to the Complaint, applicable TRICARE regulations relating 

to coverage of claims by providers and physicians have been substantially similar in all material 

respects to the applicable Medicare provisions described above. 

29. Medicare, Medicaid, and TRICARE,.and other similar federal programs are 

referred to collectively herein as "federal health insurance programs." 
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SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS 


A. CARENOW REGULARLY BILLS FOR SERVICES NOT RENDERED 

30. CARENOW and its providers regularly bill Government-funded healthcare 

programs for services not rendered. This is clearly evidenced in several ways: the unusually high 

number of claims for services rendered to deceased patients, the identical progress notes for 

different patients or for the same patients at different times and the billing for more daily minutes 

than there are in an actual work day. 

a. 	 CARENOW'S IMPROPER BILLING IS EVIDENCED BY 
UNUSUALLY HIGH NUMBER OF CLAIMS FOR SERVICES 
PURPORTEDLY RENDERED TO DECEASED PATIENTS 

31. Kelly Freeman is a Licensed Clinical Social Worker who contracts with 

CARENOW to provide care for patients in need ofcounseling or psychiatric services. 

32. On March 1,2016, Ms. Freeman billed Patient A under CPT Code 90832 for 30 

minutes of psychotherapy. I Ms. Freeman described the patient as "verbal interactive" and 

"pleasant" and noted that patient believed her wedding ring had been stolen and she needed help 

to go shopping for another one. Ms. Freeman billed the patient for the same service again on 

March 15 and again on March 29. On both occasions, Ms. Freeman recorded equally specific 

notes of her impressions ofthe patient. Ms. Freeman billed the patient yet again under the same 

CPT code on April 12 and April 26. However, the patient died before March 1,2016. 

33. CARENOW submitted claims for payment to the Government for services 

purportedly rendered to Patient A after she died. This is a clear violation of the FCA and subject 

To protect their identities and other private medical information under the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act ("HJPAA"), patients are herein referred to by arbitrary labels. 
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to statutory penalties regardless of whether the Government actually paid the claim. This is a 

clear example of how CARENOW providers frequently billed the Government for services 

which were never rendered. 

34. Ms. Freeman's conduct was routine at CARENOW: she billed a patient for the 

service which the patient had been scheduled to receive rather than for services actually 

rendered. If Ms. Freeman took the time to see the patient to attempt to render treatment, Ms. 

Freeman would have known that the patient died and would likely not have billed for the 

purported service. Indeed, this is one of many documented examples ofCARE NOW providers 

billing for services allegedly rendered to deceased patients. 

35. Between November 2015 and May 2016, CARENOW billed the Government for 

services rendered to at least twenty-five different deceased patients on at least thirty-nine 

different occasions. 

36. That CARENOW billed the Government for services never rendered because the 

patient died is unambiguous documentary evidence that CARENOW and its providers routinely 

do not even see the patients on whose behalf they bill the Government. 

b. 	 CARENOW PROVIDERS ROUTINELY BILL FOR MORE 
TREATMENT MINUTES THAN THERE ARE IN THE WORK 
DAY. 

37. Susan Greene is a Graduate Nurse Practitioner who contracts with CARENOW to 

provide care for patients in need of counseling or psychiatric services. 

38. On September 1, 2015, Susan Greene's daily summary showed that she provided 

clinical services to thirty-two patients. Assuming an 8-hour workday, and assuming no breaks 

and one hundred percent efficiency (something wholly unheard ot), a provider has 480 minutes 

to 
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in which to treat her patients. On these assumptions, Ms. Greene would have needed to average 

no more than fifteen minutes per patient. 

39. Depending on the patient, Ms. Greene billed her services that day under codes 

99306, 99307, 99308 and 90836. 

40. CPT 99306 is the code for an Initial Nursing Facility Care and requires that the 

provider take a comprehensive history ofthe patient, perform a comprehensive examination and 

make a medical decision of high complexity. 

41. CPT 99307 is the code for a Subsequent Nursing Facility Care and requires two of 

the following three: problem focused interval history, problem focused examination and 

straightforward medical decision. 

42. CPT 99308 is an alternate code for Subsequent Nursing Facility Care which 

requires two of the following three: expanded problem focust!d interval history, expanded 

problem focused examination and a medical decision oflow complexity. 

43. CPT code 90836 is an add-on code for individual psychotherapy of 45 minutes 

rendered at the same time as nursing facility care. 

44. According to Ms. Greene's daily summary, twelve of her thirty-two patients that 

day were billed for 45 minutes of psychotherapy under CPT 90836 for a total of 540 minutes or 

nine hours. This means that if Ms. Greene's daily summaries were accurate and she worked nine 

hours at 100% efficiency with no breaks she would still have had twenty patients remaining on 

which to perform histories, examinations and medical decisions of increasing complexity. This 

is simply impossible. Ms. Greene either did not see certain of the patients for whom she billed or 

she overbilled for a significant number ofthe patients she did treat. 
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45. Ms. Greene's conduct is not unique among CARENOW employees. Other 

CARENOW employees engaging in similarly inflated reporting treatment minutes include but 

are not limited to Kelly Freeman and Renee Jester. 

46. Specifically, Ms. Freeman's daily summaries for December 19,2015 and 

December 22, 2015 showed 360 billed minutes each day. 

47. Specifically, Ms. Jester's daily summary on April 7,2015 showed 355 billed 

minutes. 

c. 	 CARENOW PROVIDERS ROUTINELY CUT AND PASTE 
PROGRESS NOTES FOR PATIENTS TO COVER-UP THAT 
mEY DID NOT SEE THE PATIENT WHEN THE SERVICE WAS 
PURPORTEDLY RENDERED 

48. On or about July 7, 2015, Ms. Susan Greene prepared a Psychiatric Medication 

Evaluation for Patient e.G. at the Quinton Memorial Health and Rehabilitation facility in Dalton, 

Georgia. In her evaluation, Ms. Greene states the following: 

"Resident cooperative w staff. Enjoys socializing w the other residents. Participates 
in activities. Eats meals in dining room. Had recent episodes of tearfulness 
noted .... Resident states: 'I am doing alright today.' Reinforced socialization and 
participation. Cont. to encourage socialization and participation in activities." 

49. On that occasion, Ms. Greene billed the patient for fifteen minutes under CPT code 

99307 and for forty-five minutes under code 90836. Approximately one month later, Ms. Greene 

prepared another evaluation of the same patient and again billed for fifteen minutes under CPT 

code 99307 and for forty-five minutes under code 90836. Ms. Greene's evaluation, on this second 

purported visit to the client, states the following: 

"Resident cooperative w staff. Enjoys socializing w the other residents. Participates 
in activities. Eats most meals in dining room. No tearful episodes noted ....Resident 
states: 'I am doing alright.' Reinforced socialization and participation. Cont. to 
encourage socialization and participation in activities." 
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50. Approximately two months later, Ms. Greene prepared another evaluation ofthe 

same patient and again billed for fifteen minutes under CPT code 99307 and for forty-five 

minutes under code 90836. Ms. Greene's evaluation, on this second purported visit to the client, 

states the following: 

"Resident cooperative w staff. Enjoys socializing w the other residents. Participates 
in activities. Eats meals in dining room. No tearful episodes noted ....Resident states: 
'I am feeling better today.' Reinforced socialization and participation. Cont. to 
encourage socialization and participation in activities." 

51. These narrative notes, written one month apart, are nearly identical indicating that 

Ms. Greene may not have actually seen the patient on one or the other occasion, but instead 

simply copied her notes from a previous visit to the patient, with very minor edits to create the 

appearance oflegitimacy, and filled out the rest ofthe evaluation form so that she could bill the 

patient for services that were never rendered. 

B. CARENOW'S VIOLATIONS OF THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT CAUSED 

SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE TO THE GOVERNMENT 


52. CARENOW violated the FCA by routinely billing for services not rendered. The 

practice was known and condoned at the highest levels ofCARE NOW. CARENOW ignored 

patients' true needs through this scheme and damaged the Government significantly by causing 

millions ofdollars in false or fraudulent claims for reimbursement. 

C. 	 DEFENDANTS' UNLAWFUL PRACTICES EXPOSED PATIENTS TO 
UNNECESSARY HARM. 

53. Defendants' conduct resulted in numerous patients not receiving the counseling 

and/or psychiatric services they needed. Thus, CARENOW's conduct exposed these patients to 

the harms associated with failure to obtain proper mental health care. 
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D. CONCLUSION 


54. Defendants caused the United States and State Governments to incur substantial 

damages by presenting, making, using or causing to be presented, made or used thousands of 

False Claims to Government-funded Health Programs in connection with its fraudulent schemes. 

The False Claims resulted in remuneration unlawfully received by Defendants. More 

specifically, Defendants violated numerous provisions of the FCA, including, but not limited to, 

the following: 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1 )(A); 31 U.S.c. § 3729(a)(l)(8); 31 U.S.c. § 3729(a)(1 )(c); 

31 U.S.c. § 3729(a)(l)(D); 31 U.S.c. § 3729(a)(1)(G) and Ga. Code Ann.§§ 23-3-120, et seq. 

55. rn light of the foregoing, Defendants are liable to the United States and the State 

of Georgia for civil penalties and treble damages. The estimated damages to the United States 

and the State ofGeorgia caused by the False Claims alleged herein are significant. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 


False Claims Act: Presentation of False Claims 

31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(I)(A) 


56. Relator repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations above as iffully 

contained herein. 

57. As more particularly set forth in the foregoing paragraphs, by virtue ofthe acts 

alleged herein, Defendants have "knowingly present[ ed], or cause [ d] to be presented, to an 

officer or employee ofthe United States Government or a member ofthe Armed Forces of the 

United States a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval" in violation of31 U.S.c. § 

3729(a)(I). 

58. As a result of Defendants' acts, the United States has been damaged, and 

continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial, and the United States 
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is entitled to at least $5,000 and as much as $11,000 for each such false or fraudulent claim 

submitted on or before November 2, 2015 and up to $21,563 for violations committed after 

November 2,2015, plus three times the amount of the damages sustained by the Government for 

each and every violation of31 U.S.c. § 3729 arising from Defendants' unlawful conduct as 

described herein. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 85.3(a)(9). 

COUNT II 

False Claims Act: Making or Using A False Record 


or Statement to Cause Claim to be Paid 

31 U.S.c. § 3729(a)(I)(B) 


59. Relator repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations above as if fully 

contained herein. 

60. As more particularly set forth in the foregoing paragraphs, by virtue of the acts 

alleged herein, the Defendants have "knowingly ma[de], use[d], or cause[d] to be made or used, 

a false record or statement i.e., the false certifications and representations made or caused to be 

made by the defendants - to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by the Government" 

in violation of31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2). 

61. As a result of Defendants' acts, the United States has been damaged, and 

continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial, and the United States 

is entitled to at least $5,000 and as much as $11,000 for each such false or fraudulent claim 

submitted on or before November 2,2015 and up to $21,563 for violations committed after 

November 2,2015, plus three times the amount of the damages sustained by the Government for 

each and every violation of31 U.S.c. § 3729 arising from Defendants' unlawful conduct as 

described herein. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 85.3(a)(9). 

COUNT III 

False Claims Act: Conspiracy to Commit a Violation 
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31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(C) 

62. Relator repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations above as iffully 

contained herein. 

63. As more particularly set forth in the foregoing paragraphs, by virtue ofthe acts 

alleged herein, the Defendant and its agents have "conspire[ d] to commit a violation of 

subparagraph (A), (B), (D) ...or (G)" in violation of31 U .S.C. §3729(a)(l )(C). 

64. As a result of Defendants' acts, the United States has been damaged, and 

continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial, and the United States 

is entitled to at least $5,000 and as much as $1 1,000 for each such false or fraudulent claim 

submitted on or before November 2, 2015 and up to $2 1,563 for violations committed after 

November 2, 2015, plus three times the amount of the damages sustained by the Government for 

each and every violation of31 U.S.c. § 3729 arising from Defendants' unlawful conduct as 

described herein. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 85.3(a)(9). 

COUNT IV 

False Claims Act: Knowingly Delivers Less Than All of 


Government's Property in Defendant's Possession 

31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(1)(D) 


65. Relator repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations above as if fully 

contained herein. 

66. As more particularly set forth in the foregoing paragraphs, by virtue of the acts 

alleged herein, the Defendant "ha[ d] possession, custody, or control of property or money used, 

or to be used, by the Government and knowingly deliver[ed], or cause[d] to be delivered, less 

than all of that money or property" in violation of 31 U.S.c. §3729(a)( I )(D). 
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67. As a result ofDefendants' acts, the United States has been damaged, and 

continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial, and the United States 

is entitled to at least $5,000 and as much as $11,000 for each such false or fraudulent claim 

submitted on or before November 2,2015 and up to $21,563 for violations committed after 

November 2, 2015, plus three times the amount ofthe damages sustained by the Government for 

each and every violation of31 U.S.C. § 3729 arising from Defendants' unlawful conduct as 

described herein. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 85.3(a)(9). 

COUNT V 

False Claims Act: Knowingly Conceals Or Improperly Avoids an Obligation to Pay 


Money to the Government 

31 U.S.C. §3729(a)(I)(G) 


68. Relator repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations above as if fully 

contained herein. 

69. As more particularly set forth in the foregoing paragraphs, by virtue of the acts 

alleged herein, the Defendant "knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false 

record or statement material to an obligation to payor transmit money or property to the 

Government, or knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases and 

obligation ot payor transit money or property to the Government: in violation of 31 U.S.c. 

§3729(a)(1 )(G). 

70. As a result of Defendants' acts, the United States has been damaged, and 

continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial, and the United States 

is entitled to at least $5,000 and as much as $11,000 for each such false or fraudulent claim 

submitted on or before November 2,2015 and up to $21,563 for violations committed after 

November 2, 2015, plus three times the amount of the damages sustained by the Government for 

17 

Case 1:17-cv-01314-ELR   Document 1   Filed 04/12/17   Page 17 of 20



each and every violation of31 U.S.c. § 3729 arising from Defendants' unlawful conduct as 

described herein. See 28 C.F.R. §§ 85.3(a)(9). 

COUNT VI 

Georgia Taxpayer Protection False Claims Act, GA Code 


§§23-3-120 to 23-3-127 


71. Relator repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations above as if fully 

contained herein. 

72. By vi I tue ofthe acts alleged herein, Detendants knowingly, or acting with reckless 

disregard for the truth, presented and/or caused to be presented, false or fraudulent claims for 

payment or approval in connection with the sale of medical and/or industrial gases to the Georgia 

State Government. 

73. By virtue ofthe acts described above, Defendants knowingly made, used, or caused 

to be made or used false records and statements, and omitted and/or falsified material facts, to 

induce the Georgia State Government to approve and pay such false and fraudulent claims. 

74. The Georgia State Government, unaware of the falsity of the records, statements, 

and claims made, used, presented, or caused to be made used, or presented by Defendants, paid 

and continues to pay the claims that would not be paid but for the acts and/or conduct ofDefendants 

alleged herein. 

75. By reason of the Defendants' acts, the State of Georgia has been damaged, and 

continues to be damaged, in a substantial amount to be determined at trial. 

76. Pursuant to the GA FCA, the State of Georgia is entitled to three times the amount 

ofactual damages plus the maximum penalty for each and every false or fraudulent claim, record, 

or statement made, used, presented, or caused to be made, used, or presented by Defendants. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, for each ofthese claims, the Qui Tam Plaintiff requests the following relief 

from each ofthe Defendants, jointly and severally, as to the federal claims: 

a. Three times the amount ofdamages that the Government sustains because of the 

acts of Defendants; 

b. A civil penalty of $1 1,000 for each violation; 

c. An award to the Qui Tam Plaintiff for collecting the civil penalties and damages; 

d. Award of an amount for reasonable expenses necessarily incurred; 

e. Award of the Qui Tam Plaintiffs reasonable attorneys' fees and costs; 

f. Interest; 

g. Such further relief as the Court deems just; and 

WHEREFORE, for each ofthese claims, the Qui Tam Plaintiff requests the following relief 

from each of the Defendants, jointly and severally, as to the state claim: 

a. Relator and the State Plaintiff be awarded statutory damages in an amount equal 

to three times the amount of actual damages sustained by the States as a result of Defendants' 

actions, as well as the maximum statutory civil penalty for each violation by Defendants within 

the States; 

b. Relator be awarded her Relator's share of any judgment to the maximum amount 

provided pursuant to state false claims acts outlined above; 

c. Relator be awarded all costs and expenses associated with each ofthe pendent 

State claims, plus attorney's fees as provided pursuant to state false claims acts outlined above; 

and, 
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d. Relator and the Plaintiffs be awarded such other and further relief as the Court 

may deem to be just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Relator hereby demands trial by jury. 

April £, 2017 

Mark R. Mueller, Esq. 
Georgia BarNo: 100108 
MUELLER LAW PLLC 
404 W. 7th St., Austin, TX 78701 
Tel.: (512) 478-1236; 
Fax: (512) 478-1473 

ATTORNEY FOR RELATOR 
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